FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 10/10/2024 4:31 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/18/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No.

Case #: 1037023

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 58492-1-II

BETTER BUSINESS BUREAU GREAT WEST & THE PACIFIC,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

COLVIN + HALLETT, P.S. John M. Colvin, WSBA No. 20930 Jason A. Harn, WSBA No. 54017 719 Second Avenue, Suite 711 Seattle, WA 98104 T: (206) 223-0800 Attorneys for Petitioner

#### **II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming summary judgment in full in favor of movant DOR when its factual presentation admittedly only established that some unspecified portion of the taxpayer's refund claim should be disallowed?

#### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Petitioner, the Better Business Bureau Great West & Pacific ("BBB"), is a non-profit business league, devoted to protecting ethical and truthful business conduct in the Greater Northwest and surrounding areas since 1919. BBB's public service is ubiquitous in American life. It provides services to all consumers and businesses across its area of operations free of charge—regardless of their affiliation with BBB.

BBB's operations—which largely service the general public—have long been heavily funded by accredited business

membership dues. For example, in 2017, these dues accounted for over 87% of BBB's total revenue and covered 91% of its total operating costs; however, almost 77% of consumer complaints opened, as well as closed, related to non-member businesses. *See* CP 830; 861–862.

"Accreditation" by BBB is on an invitation-only basis. Upon acceptance of an invitation, accredited businesses must agree to comply with the BBB Code of Business Practices and pay annual dues, which are charged for purposes of supporting BBB's efforts to fulfill its mission of advancing marketplace trust.

Once a member, an accredited business may display BBB's seal and its BBB rating, and identify itself as an accredited business—both online and in the brick-and-mortar world.<sup>2</sup>

BBB has always deducted the dues paid by its Washington State members from its tax base when computing its Washington B&O tax obligation, as it is entitled to pursuant to RCW 82.04.4282 (and its predecessor Former RCW 82.04.430(2), Laws of 1977, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 105, § 1)).

DOR previously attempted to charge BBB for B&O tax on membership dues in the 1970s. However, in 1981, Thurston County Superior Court Judge Doran determined<sup>3</sup> that BBB's membership dues were fully deductible under Former RCW

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Though it mentioned other membership benefits in its summary judgment motion, DOR focused factually on members' right to display their affiliation with BBB to the public as indicating that membership conferred "some value" to members.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Tacoma Better Business Bureau, Inc. v. State of Washington, Department of Revenue, No. 78-2-00347-5 (Thurston Cnty. Wash. Super. Ct. 1981). CP 1020–1025. The Tacoma Better Business Bureau was a predecessor entity of BBB.

82.04.430(2) because the overwhelming majority of the services rendered by BBB were for non-members and the general public.

Thereafter, DOR took no issue with BBB's reporting until 2019 when DOR personnel encouraged BBB to seek a binding ruling concerning its reporting position. The binding ruling stated that, based on "[a] review of [BBB's] website," all of its dues were subject to B&O tax. On administrative appeal, despite noting that the value of many of the "services" identified in the binding ruling were likely deductible (CP 912–913), ARHD sustained the ruling.

DOR then audited BBB for tax year 2017, resulting in DOR assessing B&O tax on the full amount of BBB's 2017 membership dues. BBB paid the additional tax and filed a refund action in Thurston County Superior Court.

DOR moved for summary judgment,<sup>4</sup> arguing that DOR

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> BBB also filed a motion for partial summary judgment, contending that principles of *res judicata* and/or equitable estoppel should apply, citing Judge Doran's decision.

was entitled to fully prevail as a matter of law because BBB members receive "*something* of significant value." (CP 800) (emphasis added). RCW 82.04.4282 provides that "[i]f dues are in exchange for any significant amount of goods or services rendered by the recipient thereof to members . . . the *value* of such goods or services shall not be considered as a deduction under this section." (Emphasis added). Though the statute requires a determination of "value" of goods or services received by members, DOR made no showing of the *value* of the *something* received by BBB members.

In opposition, BBB contended that Judge Doran's prior determination was controlling, attaching a copy of his Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and offering declarations of BBB executives who stated that BBB's operations had not materially changed from those operations considered by Judge Doran. Though the statutory language provides that deductibility is *not* an all-or-nothing proposition (i.e., provision of *some* value to members does not wholly preclude a

deduction), the trial court granted DOR's motion in full, determining that "the membership dues do confer a value for a service and, therefore, are subject to the tax and not appropriately deducted." RP Vol. 3 (July 7, 2023) at 47.

BBB appealed the trial court's decision, arguing that DOR had not met its burden on summary judgment to demonstrate the absence of a genuine dispute of material fact. BBB contended that DOR's factual showing—that BBB members may receive "*something*" of "significant value" was insufficient to wholly preclude a deduction under RCW 82.04.4282 as a matter of law. Further, BBB argued that DOR's admissions in briefing and in the record that BBB's dues may be partially deductible was alone sufficient to preclude full summary adjudication.

Despite acknowledging DOR's admissions (Opinion, at 17), the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's full dismissal of BBB's claims based on a newly articulated summary judgment standard for tax cases.

#### IV. REASONS TO ACCEPT REVIEW

The Court of Appeals' new articulation of the standards of summary judgment in tax cases severely departs from the standards well-established by this Court. In tax cases, taxpayers seek from the court a determination as to the excludability, deductibility, or character (retailing, wholesaling, etc.) of their income. In the face of a DOR motion for summary judgment, non-moving taxpayers must now fully prove the entire factual predicate for the specific treatment they seek, or else their case will be fully dismissed in favor of a DOR "presumption."

In Washington, Thurston County Superior Court, which is appealable to Division II of the Court of Appeals, is the exclusive venue for tax refund cases. RCW 82.32.180. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' decision impacts all taxpayers and all tax refund litigation in Washington.

Though the Court of Appeals opinion was initially issued with unpublished status, DOR agrees that the Opinion

treads new ground. In its Motion to Publish,<sup>5</sup> DOR summarizes the new standard for summary judgment in tax cases as: (1) DOR "bore the initial burden of showing . . . as to whether . . . membership dues were *wholly* deductible" (emphasis added); (2) then, "the burden shift[s] to [the taxpayer] 'to show it qualified for the tax deduction and to quantify what amount of its dues qualified for the deduction'; and (3) absent such a showing by the taxpayer, "[DOR] may presume that the full amount is taxable." DOR characterizes this new, looser standard for summary judgment as "an expan[sion] [of] [the Court of Appeals'] prior holding in Automobile Club of Washington v. Department of Revenue, 27 Wn. App. 781 (1980)." App'x B, at 4–5.

DOR views the Court of Appeal's opinion here as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Though BBB disagrees with the merits of the Court of Appeals' opinion, it does not contest that the opinion meets the criteria for publication under RAP 12.3(d). Accordingly, the Opinion will likely be published.

reducing the burden of production incumbent on DOR as the movant in summary adjudication of tax cases, as well as imposing a heightened burden on taxpayers as non-movants. It is apparent DOR intends to use these newly-minted standards in future tax refund litigation—which, in practice, would result in a lower evidentiary showing required of DOR as the movant, and the imposition of a new requirement for non-movant taxpayers to make a full evidentiary showing (far in advance of trial) to preserve their right to have their day in court.

#### V. ARGUMENT

# A. The Structure and Function of RCW 82.04.4282

Since the permanent enactment of Washington's B&O tax in 1935, the tax law has contained a deduction for bona fide dues. *See* Laws of 1935, ch. 180, § 12(b). In relevant part, RCW 82.04.4282 provides, "[i]n computing tax there may be deducted from the measure of tax amounts derived

from bona fide . . . (2) dues."

Concerning bona fide dues specifically, however, the statute provides an exception to deductibility. In relevant part, it reads, "[i]f dues are in exchange for any significant amount of goods or services rendered by the recipient thereof to members . . . the value of such goods or services shall not be considered as a deduction under this section." *Id*. (emphasis added).

Accordingly, RCW 82.04.4282 provides that the deduction for bona fide dues is not an all-or-nothing proposition. Put another way, the furnishing of *any* "significant amount of goods or services" to dues-paying members does not entirely preclude a dues-receiving organization from entitlement to a deduction. Rather, such furnishing merely *reduces* the total deductible amount by the *value* of those goods or services provided to taxpayers' members.

The fact that RCW 82.04.4282 does not operate as an all-or-nothing proposition is not in dispute, and DOR's regulations and interpretive statements provide specific rules for determining the value of goods or services conferred for purposes of reducing the amount of the dues deduction. DOR's former regulations (which were in effect during the tax period at issue) contained a "cost of production" method for quantifying the value of goods or services for purposes of the deduction. See Former WAC 458-20-183(4)(c)(ii)(B). The methodology provided that a taxpayer's actual direct and indirect costs associated with providing such goods or services are used to determine the taxable portion of the member dues received, i.e., quantifying the "value" reduction amount of the dues deduction. Similarly, current guidance provides a methodology for quantifying the amount by which a taxpayer should reduce its dues deduction as well. See Excise Tax Advisory 3230.2021.

Thus, although a taxpayer may provide its members

some "significant amount of goods or services" in partial exchange for dues, RCW 82.04.4282 still entitles the taxpayer to a deduction, provided the value of goods or services rendered to its members does not equal or exceed the total dues it received. For example, assume a member pays annual dues of \$50 to an organization, and the organization sends the member a mug. The organization's total cost to acquire the mug and ship it to the member was \$5.<sup>6</sup> RCW 82.04.4282 does not do away completely with the organization's deduction because of the mug. Rather, it—in combination with DOR's "cost of production" method—reduces the deduction amount of \$50 by \$5 (i.e., the quantified value of the mug), resulting in the organization's entitlement to a \$45 deduction pursuant to RCW 82.04.4282.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Of course, the quantification of "value" is more difficult when dealing with more complicated types of goods or services.

## B. The Well-Established Summary Judgment Standards of Review

The rules governing whether a case may be disposed of on summary adjudication are well-trod in both Washington caselaw and American jurisprudence at large.

"The purpose of a summary judgment is to avoid a useless trial. It permits the trial court to cut through formal allegations and grant relief when it appears from uncontroverted facts . . . that there are no genuine issues as to any material fact." *State ex rel. Bond v. State*, 62 Wn.2d

487, 490 (1963) (citing Preston v. Duncan, 55 Wn.2d 678

(1960)). This Court long ago observed that,

[t]he summary judgment rule will best serve its purposes when we all, bench and bar alike, become aware that . . . '[s]ummary judgment procedure is not a catch penny contrivance to take unwary litigants into its toils and deprive them of a trial, it is a liberal measure, liberally designed for arriving at the truth. Its purpose is not to cut litigants off from their right of trial by jury *if they really have evidence which they will offer on a trial*, it is to carefully test this out, in advance of trial by inquiring and determining whether such evidence exists.

*Preston*, 55 Wn.2d at 682 (citing *Whitaker v. Coleman*, 115 F.2d 305 (5th Cir. 1940) (emphasis in original). "A trial is not useless but absolutely necessary where there is a genuine issue as to any material fact." *Id.* at 681; *see also* CR 56(c); *Elcon Const., Inc. v. Eastern Washington University*, 174 Wn.2d 157 (2012).

In supporting a motion for summary judgment, the moving party bears the burden of demonstrating the absence of a genuine dispute of material fact. *Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce Cnty.*, 164 Wn.2d 545, 552 (2008). A court must review the facts and reasonable inferences thereon in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Jones v. Dep't of Health*, 170 Wn.2d 338, 352 (2010). "The moving party is held to a strict standard. Any doubts as to the existence of a genuine issue of material fact is resolved against the moving party." *Atherton Condominium Ass'n v. Blume Dev. Co.*, 115 Wn.2d

506, 516 (1990). Summary judgment can be granted only if "reasonable persons could reach but one conclusion." *Indoor Billboard/Wash., Inc. v. Integra Telecom of Wash., Inc.*, 162 Wn.2d 59, 70 (2007).

In reviewing summary adjudication in cases where the non-movant bears the burden at trial, like tax cases, this Court has made clear the allocation of the ultimate burden "matters not." *State ex rel. Bond v. State*, 62 Wn.2d 487, 490 (1963). "In seeking a summary judgment, the moving party always has the burden of proving, by uncontroverted facts, that no genuine issue as to any material fact exists." *Id.* "If the moving party fails to sustain this burden, it is unnecessary for the nonmoving party to submit affidavits or other materials." *Hash v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Medical Ctr.*, 110 Wn.2d 912 (1988) (citing *Graves v. P.J. Taggares Co.*, 94 Wn.2d 298 (1980)).

In Hash v. Children's Orthopedic Hospital & Medical Center, 110 Wn.2d 912 (1988), this Court discussed the

absolute necessity that movants adequately establish that no genuine issue as to any material fact exists in support of their requests for summary judgment<sup>7</sup>—irrespective of the factual predicate submitted by non-movants in response-and the fashion by which courts are required to draw reasonable inference in favor of non-movants. In Hash, a patient undergoing physical therapy for arthritis sustained a leg fracture. Hash sued the hospital, alleging negligence. The hospital moved for summary judgment, supported by two affidavits concerning physical therapy's standard of care. A rheumatologist's affidavit stated that the "vigorous" physical therapy program conformed with the standard of care and that a fracture can occur even if the appropriate standard of care was met. Hash provided no evidence in opposition; rather, she argued the hospital's evidence was insufficient to establish

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See also State ex rel. Bond, 62 Wn.2d at 490 ("Where the issues of laches has been properly raised, [movant-defendant] must establish that there is no laches or reasonable inference thereof to be drawn from the undisputed facts").

there were no genuine issues of material fact and argued that *res ipsa loquitur*<sup>8</sup> was sufficient to raise such an issue. *Hash*, 110 Wn.2d at 913–915. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the hospital, but the Court of Appeals reversed, holding that the hospital's affidavits were insufficient because they did not address how the fracture occurred. *Id.* at 914–15.

In affirming the Court of Appeal's reversal, this Court noted the record only showed that the fracture was sustained during physical therapy; it did not contain any evidence showing *how* the fracture occurred. Further, the Court noted that, based on the rheumatologist's statement that a fracture could be sustained during physical therapy when a therapist is *not* negligent, a reasonable inference—resolved (as it must be)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Similar here, BBB's opposition was based largely on collateral estoppel, providing testimony by affidavit that its operations had not materially changed from those that Judge Doran considered to present no bar to full deductibility in 1981.

in Hash's favor—could be drawn that a fracture could also be sustained when a therapist *is* negligent. This Court ultimately found that "it [is] impossible to uphold a ruling that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact when the record contains all questions and no facts." *Id.* at 916.

Similar here, the record below leaves significant questions begging for answers. DOR merely asserted that BBB's members received something of value in the abstract, which the trial court accepted as sufficient, without making any determination as to the *extent* of the value received. The fact that some value may have been received by members is alone not a sufficient showing under the plain language of RCW 82.04.4282 and the regulations implementing that statute to fully disallow the deduction. Since the deduction is merely reduced by the value of goods and services received by members—not completely disallowed upon conferring any value to members—a lesser deduction is still available even when a taxpayer provides its due-paying members something

of value. Like the rheumatologist's statement in *Hash*, DOR's argument that "some value" was provided to members, when viewed in the light most favorable to the non-movant, begets an inference that the value was *not* in an amount sufficient to deny a deduction in full. In fact, in light of: (1) the fact that both DOR and its lawyers freely admitted that BBB likely qualified for some amount of deduction; and (2) the bulk of the consumer disputes handled by the BBB involved nonmembers, the proper inference is that the amount of value was significantly less than the amount of the dues received. The amount of the value provided to members is a material fact upon which litigation concerning entitlement to the deduction under RCW 82.04.4282 depends. See Barrie v. Hosts of America, Inc., 94 Wn.2d 640, 642 (1980). Accordingly, DOR did not meet its burden of showing that there is no issue of material fact, and summary judgment—when applying the well-established standards of review—was inappropriate.

C. The Court of Appeals' Newly Articulated Summary Judgment Standards in Tax Cases is Irreconcilable with the Standards Established by This Court and Severely Impacts Taxpayers' Right to Trial by Jury

Rather than contend with the adequacy of DOR's evidentiary showing pursuant to the Civil Rules as the movant on summary judgment, the Court of Appeals completely reallocated the burdens on movants and non-movants in tax cases. Under the rule set out in this case, when DOR is seeking **full** summary adjudication as the movant, it need only make a minimal evidentiary showing that the taxpayer is not entitled to the full amount of the refund claimed. Then, the burden shifts to the non-movant taxpayer, which can only be met by fully proving up their case at the summary judgment stage—otherwise DOR's presumption is (somehow) dispositive.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> As expressed in its Motion to Publish, DOR interprets the Court of Appeals' opinion similarly. App. B at 4–5.

1. The Court of Appeals' New Initial Burden of the Movant in Tax Cases— DOR as Movant Must Merely Present Evidence that Suggests a Non-Movant Taxpayer is Not Entitled to Its Entire Claim

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals states, "DOR bore the initial burden to show there was no genuine issue of material fact as to whether BBB's membership dues were *wholly* deductible under RCW 82.04.4282." Opinion, at 13 (emphasis added). "DOR claimed that businesses received *things of value* from BBB in exchange for paying membership dues . . . Thus, DOR met its initial burden to show that BBB was not entitled to a deduction of its *total* revenue from membership dues." *Id*. (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals' new approach to DOR's burden of proof as the movant on summary judgment can only be described as a logical fallacy—evidence of a part proves the whole. Since RCW 82.04.4282 provides that a taxpayer's deduction for bona fide dues received is merely *reduced* by the

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