FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/10/2025 3:57 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 1037023

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BETTER BUSINESS BUREAU GREAT WEST & THE PACIFIC

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE'S AMENDED ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

TRAVIS YONKER, WSBA No. 43467 JESSICA E. FOGEL, WSBA No. 36846 7141 Cleanwater Dr. SW PO Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5515, OID No. 91027

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

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

The Court should deny the BBB's petition for review because the courts below applied established summary judgment principles to this routine tax refund action. For that reason, none of the requirements for granting discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b) are met. Indeed, the BBB's petition fails to even mention, let alone argue, that it meets those requirements. Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted *only* if (1) the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a Supreme Court decision, (2) the decision is in conflict with a published Court of Appeals decision, (3) the decision implicates a significant question of law under the state or federal Constitution, or (4) there is an issue of substantial public

² The BBB has not petitioned for review of the discovery-related privilege issue. *See* Pet. at 3 (identifying the summary judgment ruling as the sole issue for review).

interest that the Supreme Court should determine. RAP 13.4(b). Instead of arguing why review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b), the BBB mischaracterizes the Court of Appeals' decision, misunderstands basic principles of tax law, and misrepresents the Department's motion to publish.

More importantly, the BBB has offered no compelling reason for the Court to accept review of the straightforward. Court of Appeals decision that applies established principles of summary judgment. The BBB sought to deduct 100 percent of its Washington dues under RCW 82.04.4282 and offered no evidence to rebut the Department's evidence that, at most, the dues were only partially deductible because members received something of value in exchange for those dues. Because the BBB made no effort on summary judgment to establish the dues were even partially deductible, the trial court correctly granted summary judgment to the Department. The Court should deny the BBB's petition for review.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Correctly Applied Established Legal Principles Recognized by this Court and the Court of Appeals

Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) because the Court of Appeals correctly applied established summary judgment principles to this tax refund action, and the decision below does not conflict with any legal authority cited by the BBB.

1. The Court of Appeals followed settled case law

In addressing the interplay between the standards on summary judgment in a tax refund action, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized the taxpayer bears the ultimate burden of proving a tax deduction applies. The Court stated, "[i]n a tax deduction claim, the taxpayer has the burden to show they are qualified for the deduction." Slip Op. at 12 (citing *Grp. Health Co-op. of Puget Sound, Inc. v. Wash. State Tax Comm'n*, 72 Wn.2d 422, 429, 433 P.2d 201 (1967)). That the taxpayer bears the burden of proving a tax deduction is an established legal principle. RCW 82.32.180 ("At trial, the burden shall rest upon

the taxpayer to prove that the tax as paid by the taxpayer is incorrect, either in whole or in part, and to establish the correct amount of the tax."); Cashmere Valley Bank v. Dep't of Revenue, 181 Wn.2d 622, 334 P.3d 1100 (2014) ("A taxpayer has the burden of proving that it qualifies for a tax deduction."); Wash. Imaging Servs., LLC v. Dep't of Revenue, 171 Wn.2d 548, 555, 252 P.3d 885 (2011) ("As the taxpayer seeking a refund of B&O taxes that it paid, Washington Imaging has the burden of proving that the Department incorrectly assessed the tax and it is entitled to a refund") (citing RCW 82.32.180); There is no conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) with respect to this principle.

The Court also correctly recognized that tax deductions "are narrowly construed against the taxpayer." Slip Op. at 12 (citing *Analytical Methods, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 84 Wn. App. 236, 241, 928 P.2d 1123 (1996)). This again is an established legal principle. *Royal Oaks Country Club v. Dep't of Revenue*, 2 Wn.3d 562, 569, 541 P.3d 336 (2024) (citing

Avnet, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 187 Wn.2d 44, 49-50, 384 P.3d 571 (2016) ("The B&O tax applies broadly, and deductions are construed narrowly."); Lacey Nursing Center, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 128 Wn.2d 40, 53, 905 P.3d 338 (1995). ("It is a general principle that tax statutes conferring credits, refunds or deductions are construed narrowly."). Applying those legal principles, the Court correctly stated that "BBB had the burden to show it qualified for the tax deduction and to quantify what amount of its dues qualified for the deduction." Slip Op. at 14.

With respect to summary judgment, the Court of Appeals correctly observed that "[a] moving defendant can meet [their initial burden on summary judgment] by showing the plaintiff cannot support their claim with any evidence." Slip Op. at 8-9 (citing *Sartin*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 172). *See Young v. Key Pharms.*, *Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) ("If the moving party is a defendant and meets this initial showing [an absence of an issue of material fact], then the inquiry shifts to

the party with the burden of proof at trial, the plaintiff."); *Sligar* v. *Odell*, 156 Wn. App. 720, 725, 233 P.3d 914 (2010) (recognizing that a complete failure of proof concerning an element essential to a nonmoving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial).

The Court recognized that the burden then shifts to the plaintiff to present "specific facts" that reveal a genuine issue of material fact about an essential element on which they will have the burden of trial. Slip Op. at 8-9 (quoting *Sartin*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 172). And the Court noted, "conclusory statements of fact are insufficient to defeat a summary judgment motion." *Id*. (quoting *Hamblin v. Castillo Garvia*, 23 Wn. App. 2d 814, 831, 517 P.3d 1080 (2022), *rev. denied*, 200 Wn.2d 1029 (2023)).

Applying these black-letter legal standards, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the Department "bore the initial burden to show there was no genuine issue of material fact as to whether BBB's membership dues were *wholly* deductible under RCW 82.04.4282." Slip Op. at 13 (emphasis

added). This is because the BBB maintained the position that its dues were "fully deductible from its gross income." *Id.* at 1; see also CP 822-823 (BBB's answer to the Department's interrogatory, claiming that the full amount of the BBB membership dues is deductible), 976 (BBB's partial motion for summary judgment, arguing that "BBB membership dues should not be taxed"); 3 RP 8:12-13 (BBB's argument at the summary judgment hearing that "the dues are fully deductible as bona fide dues under RCW 82.04.4282"). To disprove the BBB's claim that the dues were *fully* deductible, the Department needed to show there was no genuine issue of material fact that the BBB gave something of value in exchange for the dues.

This is exactly what the Department proved: the BBB provided "things of value" in the form of a license to use the BBB's "trademarked seal in online and offline advertising." Slip Op. at 13. With this evidence, the Department "met its initial burden to show that BBB was not entitled to a deduction

of its *total* revenue from membership dues." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Once the Department did so, "[t]he burden then 'shifts to the plaintiff to present specific facts that reveal a genuine issue of material fact." *Id.* at 9 (quoting *Sartin*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 172). And "[i]f a plaintiff does not show sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact 'about an essential element on which [they] will have the burden of proof at trial,' summary judgment is appropriate." *Id.* (quoting *Sartin*, 15 Wn. App. 2d at 172).

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that "the burden shifted to BBB to provide specific facts that reveal a genuine issue of material fact or to show that the DOR is not entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Slip Op. at 14. But, as the Court of Appeals correctly observed, "in response, BBB failed to present specific facts or sufficient evidence showing that *all* of the membership dues" were deductible. *Id*. (emphasis added). Rather, the BBB relied solely on the 1981 trial court

decision and a declaration alleging that the facts had not materially changed since that time. CP 1037-46. Yet the facts clearly had changed. In 2017, advertising one's BBB accreditation status and rating was the primary reason businesses became accredited. CP 864. But in the tax period at issue in the 1981 decision, BBB members were precluded from advertising their BBB membership. CP 950-51. Both the trial court and Court of Appeals agreed these were material changes that rendered the 1981 trial court decision inapplicable. 3 RP 46; Slip Op. at 11. Since the BBB was unable to show any genuine issue of material fact regarding the BBB's entitlement to the full deduction the BBB sought, the trial court correctly granted summary judgment to the Department. Id. As the trial court judge described it, this case involved "a sort of standard application of summary judgment principles." 3 RP 48.

Finally, the Court of Appeals relied on established precedent in concluding that "[a]bsent BBB putting forth evidence showing its attempt to segregate these expenses, the

DOR may presume that the entire amount of membership dues is taxable." Slip Op. at 15 (citing *Auto. Club*, 27 Wn. App. at 786-87). Thus, the Department could assess tax on the full amount of the BBB's gross income because the BBB failed to offer evidence that would allow a segregation between the deductible and non-deductible portions of the dues. *Id*.

The BBB wrongly claims that the legal precedent on which the Court relied—Automobile Club of Washington v.

Department of Revenue, 27 Wn. App. 781, 786-87, 621 P.2d 760 (1980)—has "no reasoning or support." Pet. at 30. Yet that decision cited a Washington Supreme Court opinion, Tidewater Terminal Co. v. State, 60 Wn.2d 155, 372 P.2d 674 (1962).

Auto. Club, 27 Wn. App. at 787. There, the Court held that when a taxpayer "did not supply information to the [Department] which would enable it to segregate exempt income," it was "reasonable for the [Department] to measure the tax imposed against all the income from the [taxpayer's] operations, presuming that it was derived from the taxable

activities." *Tidewater Terminal*, 60 Wn.2d at 162. Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision falls squarely within settled law and correctly concluded that the Department was entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. The BBB fails to show any conflict with precedent from this Court or the Court of Appeals to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

2. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any of the legal authority cited by the BBB

While the BBB attempts to portray the Court of Appeals' decision as inconsistent with various legal authorities, the BBB has either misinterpreted those authorities or has fundamentally misunderstood Washington tax law. These cases are in fact consistent with the Court of Appeals' decision.

First, the Court's decision does not conflict with *State ex rel. Bond v. State*, 62 Wn.2d 487, 383 P.2d 288 (1963). *See* Pet. at 17. There, a former state employee sought reinstatement in his position. *Bond*, 62 Wn.2d at 488. The State asserted the affirmative defense of laches. *Id.* The trial court rejected that argument and granted summary judgment to the employee. *Id.*

On appeal, the Court reversed, holding that to receive summary judgment, the employee had to prove that laches did not apply:

Thus, even though in a trial on the merits the state would have the burden of proving its affirmative defense of laches, the reverse is true on [the employee's] motion for summary judgment. Where the issue of laches has been properly raised, [the employee] must establish that there is no laches or reasonable inference thereof to be drawn from the undisputed facts.

Id. at 490. In simple terms, the *Bond* case requires the party moving for summary judgment to disprove the non-moving party's argument through undisputed facts for summary judgment to be granted.

That is precisely what the Department did in this case: it disproved the BBB's *sole* argument that it was entitled to a *full* deduction through undisputed facts. *See* Slip Op. at 13 ("Thus, the [Department] met its initial burden to show that BBB was not entitled to a deduction of its *total* revenue from membership dues." (emphasis added)). Under the BBB's interpretation of the *Bond* case, however, the Department would not only have to

disprove the BBB's stated position—that it was entitled to a full deduction—but also that the BBB was even entitled to a partial refund. However, the BBB never made any substantive argument or offered evidence that it was alternatively entitled to a partial refund to the trial court. Disproving a claim the taxpayer never pursued is not the requirement to receive summary judgment under *Bond* or any other legal authority. Therefore, there is no conflict.

The BBB also incorrectly asserts that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Hash by Hash v. Children's Orthopedic Hospital and Medical Center*, 110 Wn.2d 912, 757 P.2d 507 (1988). *See* Pet. at 17-20. In the *Hash* case, a patient was injured during physical therapy at a hospital. *Id.* at 913. The patient sued the hospital, alleging the injury resulted from the hospital's negligence. *Id.* The hospital moved for summary judgment, based on an expert opinion stating that the physical therapy met the applicable standard of reasonable care. *Id.* at 914. The hospital did not, however, provide evidence "setting

forth its version of the facts surrounding the injury." *Id.* After the patient failed to provide any evidence in response, the trial court granted the hospital's motion. *Id.* On appeal, this Court reversed, concluding that the hospital failed to meet its initial burden because it had not asserted the necessary facts in the first place:

The court had no evidence from which to determine how the fracture occurred. At the very least, to support a motion for summary judgment the moving party is required to set out its version of the facts and allege that there is no genuine issue as to the facts as set out . . . We find it impossible to uphold a ruling that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact when the record contains all questions and no facts.

Id. at 916. Essentially, *Hash* requires that the moving party on summary judgment provide the material facts to the case, and then argue that those facts are not in dispute.

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the

Department did just that by pointing to facts in the record

"support[ing] that there is much value in BBB accreditation and

BBB's trademarks." Slip Op. at 16. Thus, the Department did precisely what the hospital in *Hash* failed to do: provide the material facts in the first place.

The BBB incorrectly relies on *Hash* to argue that the Department was not entitled to summary judgment because, in the BBB's words, "the record below leaves significant questions begging for answers." Pet. at 20. These "questions" and "answers" apparently related to the amount of a partial deduction to which the BBB *might* be entitled. See id. But those "questions" were never before the trial court because the BBB maintained it was entitled to a *full* deduction. To the extent it may have intended to pursue a partial deduction, it did not do so at the trial court. With no such "questions" before the court, the Department did not need to provide corresponding "answers" on summary judgment. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with the *Hash* decision.

3. The Court of Appeals' decision does not create a "new approach" for summary judgment in tax disputes

What the BBB incorrectly calls a "new approach" in tax cases is nothing more than a proper application of settled summary judgment principles. *See* Pet. at 23. The BBB asserted that it was entitled to a *full* deduction and when the Department disproved that through undisputed facts in the record, it was entitled to summary judgment on that claim, tax case or not. Slip Op. at 16.

But the BBB argues "[t]he fact that some value may have been received by members is alone not a sufficient showing under the plain language of RCW 82.04.4282 . . . to fully disallow the deduction." Pet. at 20. The BBB implies the Department had the additional burden on summary judgment to disprove that the BBB was entitled to any partial deduction. *See* Pet. at 23-24 (arguing that the Department had to prove the value of the goods and services provided equaled or exceeded the total dues received "to reduce the deduction to zero").

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